# A D O B E PHOTOSHOP LIGHTROOM 5

## QUICK START GUIDE

Victoria Bampton

www.lightroomqueen.com



### LEGAL NOTICE:

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$  2013 Victoria Bampton. All rights reserved

This eBook is available for free download from <a href="http://www.lightroomqueen.com/lr5quickstart">http://www.lightroomqueen.com/lr5quickstart</a>

Adobe, the Adobe logo, Lightroom, and Photoshop are either registered trademarks or trademarks of Adobe Systems Incorporated in the United States and/or other countries.

THIS PRODUCT IS NOT ENDORSED OR SPONSORED BY ADOBE SYSTEMS INCORPORATED, PUBLISHER OF ADOBE PHOTOSHOP LIGHTROOM.

All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners.

The information contained within this ebook is given in good faith and is believed to be accurate, appropriate and reliable at the time it is given, but is provided without any warranty of accuracy, appropriateness or reliability. The author does not accept any liability or responsibility for any loss suffered from the reader's use of the advice, recommendation, information, assistance or service, to the extent available by law.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	3
INTRODUCTION	4
BEFORE YOU START	5
BASIC LIGHTROOM WORKFLOW	8
INSTALLING LIGHTROOM	10
GETTING PHOTOS INTO LIGHTROOM	15
BACKING UP LIGHTROOM	23
THE LIGHTROOM WORKSPACE	26
VIEWING YOUR PHOTOS IN LIGHTROOM	30
SELECTING THE BEST PHOTOS	38
ADDING METADATA TO YOUR BEST PHOTOS	43
FINDING AND FILTERING YOUR PHOTOS	48
EDITING THE BEST PHOTOS	51
FURTHER EDITING IN OTHER PROGRAMS	67
YOUR FINISHED PHOTOS	70
CONGRATULATIONS, YOU'RE NOW A LIGHTROOM USER!	75

## INTRODUCTION

### WHAT IS A CATALOG?

All of the information about your photos is stored as text in a database. This is called a Lightroom Catalog. In a library of books, the library catalog doesn't contain the books themselves, but a record of where to find each book and information about it. Similarly, Lightroom's catalog records where to find the photo on the hard drive and stores information about that photo, but it doesn't contain the photo itself. Lightroom also keeps small previews of the photos, like a library catalog may keep a photo of the book's cover. ightroom is an image management and editing program designed especially
 for photographers. It guides you through your workflow, including organizing,
 editing, and sharing your digital images and videos.

It's designed around a database, rather than a file browser, so it keeps a record of the files even when the original photos are offline. That also makes it quick to search and find photos.

Lightroom's Develop module is a non-destructive, parametric editor. That simply means that your edits are saved as text instructions, rather than being applied to the pixels themselves, so it doesn't degrade the original image data. You can experiment without fear.

This Quick Start Guide is designed to guide you through a simple Lightroom workflow. It'll give you a taste of what Lightroom can do, and help you to feel comfortable using Lightroom to manage your photos, while avoiding the most frequent problems.

We're not going to cover every tool, button, slider and checkbox, and we're not going to cover all the possible variations in workflow. If we did, it would fill hundreds of pages and then it wouldn't be a getting started guide!

You'll find detailed information in the Help documentation provided by Adobe at <u>http://helpx.adobe.com/lightroom.html</u> and in books such as my own book, Adobe Photoshop Lightroom 5 - The Missing FAQ, available from <u>http://www.lightroomqueen.com</u> and online bookstores. I hope you find the information useful. Now let's get started...

## BEFORE YOU START

	(
$\prec$	(
	١

efore you start importing your photos into Lightroom, you have a couple of decisions to make. Making them now will save a lot of unnecessary work later.

First, you need to decide where to store your catalog and photos on your computer. And then it's useful, but not essential, to decide on your folder structure and file naming. In a recent poll, folder structure was the main thing Lightroom users wished they'd understood when they started.

### WHERE WILL YOU STORE YOUR CATALOG?

Because Lightroom is a non-destructive editor and cataloging program, all of the information about your photos and the changes you've made within Lightroom are stored in Lightroom's catalog.

When you first start Lightroom, it'll ask you where to store the catalog and what to name it. By default, the catalog will be called Lightroom 5 Catalog.Ircat and it will be stored in your main Pictures folder.

Next to the catalog, Lightroom will create a Previews folder (Windows) / file (Mac) called Lightroom 5 Catalog Previews.Irdata. The previews folder/file contains a small JPEG preview of all the photos you import, so it can grow very large.

We'll select the location in the "Installing Lightroom" section on page 10.

## DO I HAVE TO USE A CATALOG?

Lightroom always creates a catalog, but you can add the files at their existing location, so it doesn't have to turn your existing workflow upside-down. It's also possible to write some of the settings into the files themselves, or sidecar files for proprietary raw files, using a metadata format called XMP.

### JUST ONE CATALOG?

Lightroom is designed to manage all of your photos in a single catalog. It can't search across multiple catalogs or open multiple catalogs at the same time.

Unless you have a really good reason for using multiple catalogs (for example, personal vs. work photos), try to stick to just one, and use folders and collections to separate different types of photography.

### CATALOGS VS. FILE BROWSERS

Originally recorded using Lightroom 1, George Jardine's video remains one of the best explanations of using catalogs instead of browsing for files. <u>http://www.lrq.me/jardine-catalogs</u> If you have plenty of space on your boot drive (usually C:\ on Windows or Macintosh HD on Mac), then you could keep the catalog and previews in the default location, or you could select another drive. If you're not sure what to choose, Lightroom will use the default settings, and you can choose to move it later.

Wherever you choose to store your catalog and previews, make a note of the catalog name and location you choose, as you'll need to ensure the catalog is backed up.

### WHERE WILL YOU STORE YOUR PHOTOS?

Lightroom doesn't hide your photos away from you. They're kept as normal image files in folders on your hard drive, which you can also access using other software. We'll select the location in the "Getting Photos Into Lightroom" section on page 15.

By default, Lightroom will copy your photos into the Pictures folder in your user account. If you already have an organized filing system, you can choose to leave the photos where they are, or you can choose another location, such as another hard drive.

If you work on a laptop, or a desktop computer with a small boot drive, remember that your Pictures folder will fill up quickly, so you may want to store your photos on another internal drive or a mains-powered external drive instead of the default Pictures folder.

It's best to keep all the folders of photos under a single parent folder (or one for each drive), rather than scattering the photos around your hard drives. It's easier to back up the photos if they're in one or two locations. As your collection of photos grows, you can easily expand onto additional hard drives.

### HOW WILL YOU ORGANIZE YOUR PHOTOS INTO FOLDERS?

Importing photos into Lightroom doesn't force you to rearrange them. If you already have a well thought out filing system, you can keep your existing folder structure. It's best not to duplicate photos in multiple folders—we'll explore how to use keywords and collections to group similar photos.

As far as Lightroom's concerned, your choice of folder structure doesn't make a lot of difference. Folders are just a place to store the photos, and you can use metadata/keywords to organize them. That said, you do need some level of organization to make it easy to back up your photos. Many people choose a date-based folder structure, with folders for days (or shoots) within folders for months, which in turn are in folders for years.

### HOW WILL YOU NAME YOUR PHOTOS?

The main things to consider when naming your files is to make the names unique. File names direct from the camera may be repeated many times. For example, if your camera creates names like IMG\_4857, once you've taken 9999 photos, it will start counting again at 0001. If a file doesn't have a unique name, and it's accidentally moved to another folder, other photos could be overwritten.

The date and time works well as a unique file name, for example, YYYYMMDD-HHMMSS (year month day—hour minute second). If you prefer to keep to the camera file name, YYYYMMDD-original file number (and a camera code if you're shooting with more than one camera) can work well with a low risk of duplication.

You can rename the files at any time, as long as you do it within Lightroom, but doing it at the time of import means that any backups you make while importing will have the same names as the working files.

### WHAT IS METADATA?

Metadata is often defined as 'data describing data'.

As far as photos are concerned, metadata describes how the photo was taken (camera, shutter speed, aperture, lens, etc.), who took the photo (copyright) and descriptive data about the content of the photo (keywords, captions).

Lightroom also stores all of your Develop edits as metadata, which means that it records your changes as a set of text instructions (i.e. Exposure +0.33, Highlights –30, Shadows +25, etc.) instead of applying them directly to the image data. That means you can change your mind later without degrading the image.

## BASIC LIGHTROOM WORKFLOW



Capture	<ul> <li>Think about your file format—raw vs. JPEG</li> <li>Expose the photo correctly in the camera to produce the best quality</li> </ul>
Import	<ul> <li>Store photos in organized folders</li> <li>Consider renaming to a unique filename</li> <li>Apply basic metadata such as copyright and general keywords</li> <li>Apply any Develop presets as a starting point, such as a camera profile</li> <li>Build previews to save time later</li> </ul>
Organize	<ul> <li>Browse through your photos</li> <li>Manage photos in folders</li> <li>Group photos into collections and stacks</li> <li>Add flags, star ratings and labels to identify your favorite photos</li> <li>Add additional metadata, such as keywords and map locations</li> <li>Search for photos using filters and smart collections</li> <li>Don't forget to back up the catalog as well as the photos themselves</li> </ul>

Develop & Retouch	<ul> <li>Adjust tone &amp; color</li> <li>Remove noise, sensor dust, sharpen and apply lens corrections</li> <li>Straighten &amp; crop</li> <li>Apply effects, such as black &amp; white or split tones</li> <li>Switch to Photoshop and other external editors for pixel based editing</li> <li>You can also create panoramic shots and HDR photos in external editors</li> </ul>
Output	<ul> <li>Create finished files in the size, format and color space of your choice</li> <li>Email your photos direct from Lightroom</li> <li>Print using your printer or save layouts to JPEG to print at a local print lab</li> <li>There are further output options which we won't consider in this Quick Start Guide, including:</li> <li>Use Export plug-ins to enhance your export, such as adding borders</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Design photo books, save them as PDF eBooks or have them printed by Blurb</li> <li>View slideshows and export them to video, PDF and JPEG formats</li> <li>Create web galleries to upload to your website</li> <li>Use Publish Services to synchronize with Flickr and other photo sharing websites or folders on your hard drive</li> </ul>



## INSTALLING LIGHTROOM



hether you're installing the trial for the first time, or you've already purchased Lightroom, the installation and program are the same.

Download the latest version from Adobe—it's always the full program, so you can just download the trial from <u>https://www.adobe.com/go/trylightroom/</u>

### MINIMUM SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS

The minimum system requirements for installing Lightroom are:

### Windows

- Intel® Pentium® 4 or AMD Athlon® 64 processor
- DirectX 10-capable or later graphics card
- Microsoft® Windows 7 with Service Pack 1 or Windows 8
- 2GB of RAM (4GB minimum recommended)
- 2GB of available hard-disk space
- 1024x768 display
- Internet connection required for Internet-based services



### *i* MULTIPLE COMPUTERS

Lightroom's license agreement is cross-platform (both Windows and Mac) and it allows the main user to use Lightroom on 2 computers as long as they're not in use at the same time, for example, a desktop and a laptop.

Lightroom isn't designed to be used over a network. The Lightroom catalog needs to be stored on a locally attached drive (internal or external), and can only be used by one person at a time. The photos, however, can be stored on a network drive or NAS unit.

There are options for using your catalog on multiple machines, such as between your desktop and laptop.

Those options include:

- Export as Catalog and Import from Another Catalog to split/ merge smaller chunks of the catalog.
- Store your main catalog and photos on an external drive, and plug that drive into your chosen machine.
- Copy the catalog between devices, perhaps using software such as Dropbox, as long as you only use one copy of the catalog at a time and allow the software to finish synchronziing before switching machines.

#### Мас

- Multicore Intel® processor with 64-bit support (that's all Intel Macs apart from the original Core Duo)
- Mac OS X 10.7 (Lion) or 10.8 (Mountain Lion)
- 2GB of RAM (4GB minimum recommended)
- 2GB of available hard-disk space
- 1024x768 display
- Internet connection required for Internet-based services

That is the minimum required in order to install Lightroom, but it is likely to 'walk' rather than run on those specs! Lightroom does benefit from higher specification hardware.



Figure 1 Double click on the exe file to start the installer.

letting the installer automatically run.

### INSTALLING LIGHTROOM ON A WINDOWS PC

The Windows version comes with a standard installer, and is installed like all other Windows software.

- 1. Find the .exe file that you've downloaded and double click to run it. By default, the download will be stored in your Downloads folder.
- 2. Double click the Lightroom\_5\_11.exe file to start the installer. The name of the file may vary slightly depending on the language version.
- 3. Follow the on screen instructions, and agree to the License Agreement.
- 4. Confirm that you want to install to the main Program Files folder and then on the final screen, press Install. Once it's completed, press Finish to close the installer.
- 5. Go to the desktop and look for the Lightroom 5 shortcut. Double click to open the application.

Photoshop Lightroom 5.0 Installer	Adobe Photoshop Lightroom 5 - InstallShield Wizard  Destination Folder  Click Next to install to this folder, or click Change to install to a different folder.	• <b>Figure 3</b> Follow the on screen instructions to finish installing the software.
Preparing files Please wait while the downloaded files are being extracted.	Install Adobe Photoshop Lightroom 5 to: C:\Program Files\Adobe\Adobe Photoshop Lightroom 5\ Change	
\Adobe\Photoshop Lightroom 5.0\Adobe Photoshop Lightroom 5\setup32.exe		
		<ul> <li>Figure 4 Double click the shortcut on the desktop to launch Lightroom.</li> </ul>
Figure 2 Extract the files to your computer before	InstallShield < Back Next > Cancel	Lightroom 5 Shortcut 1.99 KB

### INSTALLING LIGHTROOM ON YOUR MAC

To install the Mac version of Lightroom you must run the installer, instead of dragging an app into the Applications folder.

- Find the .dmg file that you've downloaded and double click to open it. By default, the download will be stored in your Downloads folder.
- 2. Double click the Adobe Photoshop Lightroom.pkg file to launch the installer.
- 3. Follow the on screen instructions, pressing Continue to move between screens, and agree to the License Agreement.
- 4. On the final screen, confirm that you want to install to the main Applications folder and press Install.
- The installer will ask for your computer administrator password before installing. Once it's completed, press Close to close the installer.
- Go to the Applications folder or Launchpad and look for Adobe Photoshop Lightroom 5. Double click to open the application.



▲ **Figure 9** Double click on the app in the Applications folder to launch



▲ **Figure 8** Confirm the install location (Macintosh HD/Applications by default) and then press Install.



▲ Figure 5 Double click on the dmg file to open it.



**Figure 6** Double click on the installer to run it.

ADOBE     Software License Agreement     HLASE READ THIS AGREEMENT CAREFULLY. BY COPYIN     INSTALLING, OR USING ALL OR ANY PORTION OF THIS     DESTINATION SERVICE     DESTINATION SERVICE     Installation     Installatinstallatinstallation     Instacreatement     Installat		Software License Agr	eement	
portions of this agreement. The Software is LICENSED, NOT SOLI only in accordance with the terms of this agreement. Use of some Alpha end came and Alpha material and campions included in arc	Read Me     License     Destination Select     installation Type     Installation	Software License Agreen PLEASE READ THIS AG INSTALLING, OR USIN OFTWARE, YOU (HEE THE TERMS AND CON INCLUDING, WITHOU LICENSE RESTRICTIO IN SECTIONS 6 AND 7, SECTION 8, AND SPEC SICTION 16, CLISTOM LIKE ANY WRITTEN N CUSTOMER. FHIS AGR CUSTOMER. FILS AGR CUSTOMER. FILS AGR CUSTOMER. FICUSTO OF THIS AGREEMENT, SOFTWARE. Customer may have anoti (e.g., a volume license ag portions of this agreemen only in accordance with 10	REERENT CAREFULLY. E G ALL OR ANY PORTION O EUNAFTER "CUSTOMER") DITIONS OF THIS AGREEN I LIMITATION OF LIABILIT IFIC PROVISIONS AND EX: UR AGREES THAT THIS AG GOOTIATED AGREEMENT ELEMENT IS ENFORCEABL MER DOES NOT AGREE TO CUSTOMER MAY NOT US er written agreement directly rement) that supplements or s "The Software is LICENSED to terms of this agreement.	OF THIS ACCEPT ALL IENT, SIONS ON WARRANTY YIN CEPTIONS IN REEMENT IS SIGNED BY E AGAINST O THE TERMS E THE with Adobe apersedes all or .NOT SOLD, e of some

▲ **Figure 7** Press Continue to move through the installer screens.

### OPENING LIGHTROOM FOR THE FIRST TIME

Once Lightroom is installed, there are very few differences between the Windows and Mac versions, apart from the slightly different appearance. We'll carry on using the Mac version for screenshots, but where there are notable differences, we'll show both.

- If you haven't used Lightroom before, it will ask to create a catalog, as we discussed on <u>page 5</u>. Press Continue to use the default location, or Choose a Different Destination to select another folder and catalog name.
- 2. Lightroom will then ask for your license key. If you're using the trial, simply select the 'I want to try' option and press Finish. If you've already purchased a serial number, press Next and enter it on the next screen. It's worth registering your software with Adobe too, as they will then keep a record of your serial number in case you lose it in future.
- 3. Lightroom's main interface will open with some initial tips in the center of the screen. Those tips and related yellow highlights will give you a quick guided tour of Lightroom. You can press Next to view the tips, or you can check the 'Turn Off Tips' checkbox and click anywhere else on the screen to hide them.



Figure 10 When you first open Lightroom, it asks whether you want to run as a trial or enter your serial number.



▲ **Figure 11** Lightroom then asks where to store your new Lightroom catalog.



▲ **Figure 12** Tips appear in the center of the screen, with yellow highlights.

## GETTING PHOTOS INTO LIGHTROOM

s Lightroom is based around a database, the first thing you'll need to do is add the information about your photos to Lightroom's database. This process is called Importing. Don't let that confuse you—although it's called importing, the photos don't go 'into' Lightroom. A better word to describe the process might be reference, link, or register.

Just because you're importing photos into Lightroom doesn't mean you're tied in. Your photos are always accessible, the metadata can be written to the file in standardised formats that other software can understand (excluding Develop settings), and you can export the Developed photos to standardised formats if you ever decide to switch to other software.

While you're importing the photos, Lightroom can copy or move the photos to a new location of your choice, but that's not required—if the photos are already safely on your hard drive, Lightroom can reference them at their existing location.

First we'll consider importing new photos from a memory card or camera, and then we'll look at adding your existing photos too.

## *i* FILE FORMATS

Most camera raw file formats are supported by Lightroom. You can check whether your camera's raw files are supported by visiting <u>http://www.lrq.me/camerasupport</u> If your camera's newly released, you may need to wait for an update to support your camera.

Lightroom can also import DNGs, JPEGs, TIFFs, PSD files saved with maximize compatibility, and PNG files.

The first thing you'll need to do is add the information about your photos to Lightroom's database. This process is called İmporting but a better word to describe the process might be reference, link, or register."



Figure 13 Photos are added to Lightroom's catalog using the Import dialog.

### IMPORTING FROM A MEMORY CARD

- 1. Insert your memory card into the card reader or attach the camera to the computer. Card readers usually work more reliably with Lightroom than direct camera connections.
- 2. By default, the Import dialog shows automatically when inserting a memory card, but if it doesn't appear, press the Import button in the lower left corner of the Lightroom workspace.
- 3. In the Source panel, on the left hand side of the Import dialog, click on your memory card. If you only have a single device attached, it may be selected automatically.
- 4. Your photos will show as thumbnails in the central preview area. It's possible to view and uncheck photos in the Import dialog, but it's easier to sort through them in the Library module after import.
- 5. At the top of the Import dialog, select Copy. This will copy the photos from the memory card to your computer's hard drive. Move and Add will be disabled automatically when importing from a memory card.
- 6. In the right hand panels, you decide how Lightroom should handle the photos as it imports them, including setting filenames and locations.

Your photos will show as thumbnails in the central preview area. It's possible to view and uncheck photos in the Import dialog, but it's easier to sort through them in the Library module after import."

FROM E	OS_DIGITAL ÷
▼ Source	
Devices	🗹 Eject after import
EOS_DIGITAL	
Files	
Macintosh HD	
Dropbox Drive	
RAID Drive	

▲ **Figure 14** Select the memory card in the Source panel.



▲ **Figure 15** You can uncheck photos you don't want to import.

Copy as DNG **Copy** Move Add Copy photos to a new location and add to catalog

▲ Figure 16 Select Copy at the top of the dialog, to copy the photos to your hard drive.

Figure 17 In the File Renaming panel, you can set a new file naming template, or you can leave it unchecked to retain the camera filename.

<ul> <li>Rename Files</li> </ul>		
Template	Date - Filename	\$
Custom Text		
Shoot Name		
≦tart Number		
	Leave as-is	

	Fi	ename Templat	e Editor	_
	Preset: Date - File Example: 20130610-1	anting of the		
	Date (YYYYMMDD)	- Hour O	Minute	Second
	Image Name			
	Filename		:	Insert
	Numbering			
Date (MARIDD)	Import #	(1)	•	Insert
Date (YYMMDD) Date (YYYY)	Image #	(1)	•	Insert
Date (YY)	Sequence	: # (1)	•	Insert
Date (Month)	Additional			
Date (Mon) Date (MM)	Hour		• ]	Insert
Date (DD)	Dimensio	ins		Insert
Julian Day of the Year	Custom			
Hour Minute	Shoot Nam	ie		Insert
Second	Custom Te	xt		Insert

▲ **Figure 18** If you select Edit in the File Renaming panel, you'll see the Filename Template Editor. It uses tokens to build a filename structure of your choice. The date tokens are shown in the inset screenshot.

- 7. In the File handling panel, set the Render Previews pop-up to Standard. Once Lightroom's finished importing the photos, it will create previews to allow you to browse quickly.
- 8. Make sure the Don't import suspected duplicates checkbox is checked. It's not infallible but it helps avoid creating duplicates if you forget to reformat the card in the camera before shooting more photos.
- 9. Check the 'Make a Second Copy' option and click on the file path to choose a location on another hard drive. Consider it only a temporary backup, and not a replacement for a proper backup system. We'll consider backups in more detail in the next section.
- 10. In the File Renaming panel, you can rename the photos as they're imported. How have you decided to name your files? In this example, we'll create a preset for a date/time based filename, but you can create a different filename template if you prefer. Check the Rename Photos checkbox, and then in the Template pop-up, select Edit.

The Filename Template Editor dialog allows you to create a variety of file naming templates using tokens. In the Preset pop-up at the top, select the Date-Filename preset and then click in the white area below and delete the Filename token.

Further down the dialog, in the Additional section, there's a pop-up of date/time based tokens. Select Hour from the pop-up and press Insert. Repeat for Minute and Second. The tokens at the top should now read Date (YYYYMMDD)—Hour Minute Second.

Finally, save it as a preset by selecting the Preset pop-up at the top of the dialog and choosing Save Current Settings as New Preset... and giving it a name. Press Done to close the dialog, and check that your new preset is selected in the File Renaming panel. 11. In the Apply During Import panel, Develop Settings allows you to apply a preset to all of the imported photos, but leave it set to None for now.

You can use the Metadata option to add your copyright to the photos at the time of import, so that none are missed. In the Metadata pop-up, select New and you'll see the New Metadata Preset dialog. Give the preset a name such as Copyright Preset and enter your copyright information. Only checked fields will be saved. Press the Create button and your new preset will be selected in the Metadata pop-up in the Import dialog.

In the Keywords section, you can add general keywords that apply to all of the photos, but we'll come back to adding specific keywords in the Library module.

12. Finally you need to set the Destination for the photos. Where did you decide to keep your photos on <u>page 6</u>? Navigate to that location in the Destination panel.

File Handling ▼
Render Previews Standard 🗢
✓ Build Smart Previews
✓ Don't Import Suspected Duplicates
✓ Make a Second Copy To : ▼ / Users / Vic / Pictu…Download Backups

▲ **Figure 19** In the File Handling panel, choose your preview size and temporary backup location.

Apply During Import 🔻	
Develop Settings	None 🗘
Metadata	None 😌
Keywords	

▲ Figure 20 In the Apply During Import panel, add your copyright metadata.

## PREVIEW SIZE

Minimal & Embedded—quick to import, but slow when viewing the photos

Standard—recommended default, takes time initially but much quicker when viewing the photos

1:1—select 1:1 size if you need to zoom in on every photo to check focus.

+.	Destination <b>V</b>
🔲 Into Subfolder	
Organize	By date
Date Format	2013/06/11 🗧
Macintosh HD	226 / 465 GB 🔻
▼ Users	
▼ Vic	
Pictures	
	itos
▼ 🚔 2012	36 🗹
▼ 🚉 10	26 🗹
- <b>-</b>	12 1 🗹
- <b></b> ,	15 12 🗹
÷ 🛱	24 10 🗹
- E7,	30 3 🗹
V 🚉 11	10 🗹
10 🕞	07 6 🗹
· 🛱	11 4 🗹
🔻 🚞 2013	12 🗹
▼ 🚉 01	12 🗹
-	18 12 🗹

▲ **Figure 21** Choose where to put the photos using the Destination panel. If you're not sure which folder structure to use, YYYY/MM/DD is a good default.

- 13. How did you decide to organize your photos on <u>page 7</u>? The options at the top of the Destination dialog allow you to set the folder structure. The folders in italic preview the folder hierarchy that will be created by your import, so you can test different options to see what will happen. If you're not sure which to select, the settings shown in the screenshots are a good default.
- 14. That's a lot of preferences to set every time you want to import some photos! But that's not a problem, Lightroom will remember your last used settings, and you can keep additional sets of settings as presets. At the bottom of the Import dialog are the Import Presets. Select Save Current Settings as New Preset from the pop-up and give it a name such as 'Import from Card' and press Create. In future, you can select that preset from the pop-up.
- 15. Finally, press the Import button. The Import dialog will close and the photos will start to appear in the Library module. They'll be grouped in a special collection in the Catalogs panel called Current Import/Previous Import, and they'll also show up in the Folders panel.

Import Preset :	√ None
	Save Current Settings as New Preset
	Restore Default Presets

• Figure 22 Save your settings as a preset using the pop-up at the bottom of the dialog.

Lightroom will remember your last used settings, and you can keep additional sets of settings as presets."

### ADDING YOUR EXISTING PHOTOS

As a keen photographer, you likely already have a large number of photos and videos stored on your hard drive. Those photos can also be imported into your Lightroom catalog, either at their current location or at a new location.

- Open the Import dialog by pressing the Import button or by going to File menu > Import Photos & Video. Your hard drives are listed in the Files section of the Source panel. Navigate to the folder currently holding your photos. If you find a standard Windows or Mac dialog easier to use, click the large button above the Source panel and choose Other Source from the menu.
- 2. Select the folders containing your photos. If the photos are stored under a single folder, such as the Existing Photos folder in figure [x], you can select that folder and check the Include Subfolders checkbox above. If your photos are spread around multiple folders, hold down Ctrl (Windows) / Cmd (Mac) while clicking on multiple folders, or hold down Shift while clicking on the first and last folder in a series of consecutive folders. If you have thousands of photos to import, it can help to break the import into smaller chunks, for example, 10,000 at a time.
- 3. Do you want to leave the photos where they are, or copy/move them to a new location? Make your choice from the options at the top of the Import dialog. Select:
  - Add—if you like your existing folder structure and want to leave the photos where they are
  - Move—to let Lightroom move the photos to a new location that you'll set in the Destination panel
  - Copy—if you want to leave the original photos alone and create a copy in the location you choose in the Destination panel. You will need twice as much hard drive space if you choose this option, as you'll be duplicating all of your photos.
- 4. In the File Handling panel, decide which size previews to build immediately after import. Lightroom will need to build standard-sized previews before you can view the photos, but you may want to delay that process until a more convenient time if you're importing thousands of



• Figure 23 Select your folders of existing photos using the Files section of the Source panel.

Copy as DNG Copy Move Add Add photos to catalog without moving them • Figure 24 To add your photos to Lightroom's catalog without moving them, select Add at the top of the dialog.



Copy as DNG is one of the options at the top of the Import dialog. DNG is an openly documented raw file format. We won't go into it in detail in this Quick Start Guide, but it's a topic you might want to explore further. You can easily convert your files later in your workflow.



▲ **Figure 25** If you're importing a large number of photos, set Render Previews to Minimal and build them at a more convenient time.

+.	Destination <b>v</b>
🔲 Into Subfolder	-
Organize By	original folders 💲
Macintosh HD	225 / 465 GB 🔻
▼ Users	
▼ Vic	
Pictures	
✓ Lightroom Photos	
▼ 2010	22 🗹
en 🚉 2010-01-	01 Sunset 🛛 7 🗹
2010-01-	06 Snow 1 🗹
2010-03-	30 Moon 🛛 1 🗹
·· 🚞 2010-06-	27 William 🛛 7 🗹
s 🚔 2010-12-	02 William Snow 🤞 🗹

existing photos. If you choose Minimal now, you can build previews later by selecting the photos in the Library menu and selecting Library menu > Previews > Build Standard-Sized Previews.

- 5. Don't Import Suspected Duplicates is especially useful if you're moving photos to a new location while importing
- 6. If you've set the import type to Add, your work is done—just press Import and allow Lightroom to register all of the selected photos in the catalog.
- 7. If you've chosen Move or Copy, you'll need to choose where to put the photos. Where did you decide to keep your photos on <u>page 6</u>? Navigate to that location in the Destination panel.
- 8. How did you decide to organize your photos on <u>page 7</u>? As in the Importing New Photos section, you set the folder structure using the Organize pop-up. The folders in italic preview the folder hierarchy that will be created by your import, so you can test different options to see what will happen.
  - By Original Folders—moves or copies the photos to your new location, but retains the existing folder structure.
  - By Date—creates a dated folder structure, using the Date Format of your choice.
  - Into One Folder—places the photos in a single folder. When importing all of your existing photos, it's usually best to skip this option.
- 9. Save your preset for next time, as in step 14 on <u>page 20</u>, and then press the Import button.

 Figure 26 If you choose to move/copy your existing photos, Lightroom can replicate your previous folder structure or create a new one.

## BACKING UP LIGHTROOM

efore we go any further, it's essential to know how to back up your work.

### **BACK UP YOUR CATALOG**

Since all of the work you do in Lightroom is stored in your Lightroom catalog, you'll need to ensure that it's backed up regularly.

It's a database, and while corruption is relatively rare, it is possible. By default, Lightroom prompts you to back up your catalog weekly. It creates a new folder using current date/time as the name of the folder, and copies the catalog into that new folder. It keeps all of those different versions, so you can 'step back in time' to an earlier version if some corruption occurs.

By default, Lightroom puts the backups in dated folders inside a Backups folder, which is stored next to your catalog. You can change that location to another drive using the Back Up Catalog dialog, and the frequency is set using the Catalog Settings dialog.

To change the settings, open the Catalog Settings dialog to the General tab. On Windows, Catalog Settings is under the Edit menu, or on Mac it's under the Lightroom menu. Change the Backup Settings pop-up to 'When Lightroom next exits'.'





### **KEEP VERSIONED BACKUPS**

Lightroom's catalog is just a database and, while comparatively rare, databases can become corrupted—so backup the catalog regularly, and keep older backups for a while.

	General File Handling Metadata	
nformation		
	/Users/Vic/Pictures/Lightroom	Show
File Name:	Lightroom 5 Catalog.lrcat	
Created:	10/06/2013	
Last Backup:		
Last Optimized:		
Size:	1.06 MB	
ackap	Never	1
	Once a month, when exiting Lightroom	
Back up catalog	Once a week, when exiting Lightroom	
	Once a day, when exiting Lightroom	
	Every time Lightroom exits	
	When Lightroom next exits	

▲ **Figure 27** Backup frequency is set using the Catalog Settings dialog.

	alog" indicate it should be back alog file, not the photos refere	
/Users/Vic/Pictures/Lie Test integrity before Optimize catalog af	e backing up	Choose

▲ **Figure 28** When the backup runs, you can change the backup location.

Quit Lightroom and the Back Up Catalog dialog will appear. Press Choose to select a new location on another drive then press Back up. Leave 'Test integrity' and 'Optimize catalog' checked as they're good general maintenance.

Restart Lightroom and return to the Catalog Settings dialog to choose a suitable frequency for future backups. If you're working on a large number of photos, you may want to back up every day, whereas if you only use Lightroom a few times each month, monthly may be plenty. Weekly is a good average.

### **BACK UP YOUR PHOTOS**

Lightroom's Catalog Backup is just that—a backup of your catalog. Your photos are not stored `in' Lightroom and Lightroom's Catalog Backup doesn't back up the photos. Consider how you're going to keep your photos backed up—and how easily you could restore them if there was a problem.

The 'Second Copy' backup in the Import dialog simply copies the imported photos into folders called 'Imported on [date]' so it's great as a temporary backup while you ensure the photos have been safely added to your main backups. It won't replicate your working folder structure, back up any additional photos such as those edited in Photoshop, or remove any photos you've deleted, so it's not a replacement for a backup system.

Lightroom's Catalog Backup is just that—a backup of your catalog. Your photos are not stored 'in' Lightroom and Lightroom's Catalog Backup doesn't back up the photos."

There's a

Lightroom

plug-in which

backs up all of

the Lightroom

settings and

the number

manages

of catalog

The easiest way to back up your photos is to include them in your main system backups. You are running backups of your whole computer, aren't you? Windows comes with its own Backup and Restore tool, and Mac OSX comes with Time Machine, both of which can back up your computer files to an external drive. Or, for a little more control, you can run dedicated backup or file synchronization software. Whichever option you choose, double check that all of your photos are being safely backed up, as some software excludes external drives by default.

### **BACK UP THE EXTRAS**

Over the course of time, you'll gather presets and templates that you've created or downloaded from other websites, so you'll want to back those up too. You can manually copy them from their various locations, which are listed in the back of this book. There's a Lightroom plug-in which backs up all of the Lightroom settings and manages the number of catalog backups, called TPG Backup, which can be downloaded from <a href="http://www.lrg.me/photogeek-backup">http://www.lrg.me/photogeek-backup</a>



• Figure 29 Mac OS X includes Time Machine for backing up and restoring your data.

Figure 30
 Windows includes
 a Backup &
 Restore tool

Windows Easy Transfer



## THE LIGHTROOM WORKSPACE



nce the import dialog closes, you'll be viewing the main Lightroom Interface, also known as the Workspace, so let's do a quick guided tour of the basics.

On the next page you'll see an annotated screenshot of the Lightroom workspace or interface, followed by a detailed explaination of each section on the subsequent pages.

SHORTCUTS

- Grid view **G** =
- E = Loupe view
- **C** = Compare view
- N = Survey view
- **Tab =** Show/hide side panels

Shift-Tab = Shift-F =	Show/hide all panels Cycle through full screen modes
T =	Show/hide Toolbar
\ =	Show/hide Filter Bar



▲ Figure 31 The Lightroom Workspace or Interface



### Title Bar

1

2

3

4

5

The Title Bar shows the name of the current catalog, along with the standard window buttons. If it goes missing, along with the minimize/maximize/close buttons, press Shift-F once or twice to cancel the Full Screen modes.

### Identity Plate

The Identity Plate allows you to add your own branding to your catalogs. You'll find the settings under the Edit menu (Windows) / Lightroom menu (Mac) > Identity Plate Setup.

### Panels

Panels can be opened and closed by clicking on the panel header. If you right-click on the panel header, you can show/hide specific panels. In that right-click menu you'll also find Solo Mode, which automatically closes a panel when you open another panel in the same panel group. It's particularly useful when working on a small screen.

### Show/Hide Panel Groups

The left and right hand sides are called panel groups. If you click on the black bars along the outer edges of the screen, you can show/hide the left/right panel groups, as well as the Module Picker and the Filmstrip. Right-clicking on the black bars gives additional options.

#### Breadcrumb Bar

The breadcrumb bar has controls for the secondary window, as well as information about the selected source folder or collection, the number of photos in the current view and the number of selected photos. If you click on it, there's a list of recent sources for easy access.

### Module Picker

The Module Picker gives you access to the Library, Develop, Map, Book, Slideshow, Print and Web modules. The selected module is highlighted, and you can click on another module name to switch modules. If you right-click on a module name, you can hide modules from view.

### Filter Bar

When viewing Grid view, the Filter Bar will appear above the thumbnails. It allows you to filter the current view to only show photos meeting your chosen criteria. If it goes missing, press the \ key on your keyboard. You can also access the star, color and flag filters by clicking the word Filter on the Filmstrip.

8

9

10

6

7

#### **Preview Area**

The central area of the screen is the Preview Area or main work area.

#### Toolbar

The Toolbar gives easy access to often used tools. Press T on your keyboard if it goes missing, and click on the arrow at the right hand end to choose which tools show in the Toolbar.

#### Filmstrip

The Filmstrip is available in all modules and shows the set of photos you're currently viewing. When you select a different photo in the Filmstrip, the main Preview Area will be updated too.

The Module Picker gives you access to the Library, Develop, Map, Book, Slideshow, Print and Web modules."

## VIEWING YOUR PHOTOS IN LIGHTROOM





### VIEWING YOUR PHOTOS IN GRID VIEW

The Grid view can be accessed by pressing G on the keyboard or by clicking the Grid view button on the Toolbar. Grid view shows a page of thumbnails, and you can change the thumbnail size using the slider on the Toolbar.

Press the J key on your keyboard 3 times to cycle through the available thumbnail cell styles and view additional information about your photos. Go to View menu > View Options to control the information shown on your thumbnail cells.



▲ **Figure 32** The 4 view modes buttons on the Toolbar. From left to right, they are Grid, Loupe, Compare and Survey modes.







Figure 33 The simplest cell style (left) just shows the thumbnail photo. The compact cell (center) and extended cell (right) show additional information of your choice. 000

Loupe View Show Grid Extras: Compact Cells ٠ Options Show clickable items on mouse over only Tint grid cells with label colors 20% (default) Show image info tooltips Cell Icons Flags **Unsaved** Metadata Quick Collection Markers 🗹 Thumbnail Badges **Compact Cell Extras** Top Label: ✓ Index Number File Base Name and Copy Name \$ Rotation Bottom Label: Rating and Label ۸. Expanded Cell Extras Show Header with Labels: Use Defaults Copy Name or File Base Name Index Number \$ \$ Cropped Dimensions \$ **File Extension** \$ Show Rating Footer ✓ Include Color Label ✓ Include Rotation Buttons

Library View Options

- Figure 34 The View Options dialog is accessed from the View menu and controls the information displayed in Grid and Loupe modes. These are my preferred settings for Grid view.

Go to View menu > View Options to control the information shown on your thumbnail cells."







When dragging photos, drag by the thumbnail itself, not the cell

#### Top Label

border.

The information is selected in the View Options dialog. In this

### SELECTIONS

Lightroom has 3 different levels of selection, or 2 levels of selection plus a deselected state, depending on how you look at it.

The lightest shade of grey is the active photo. That's the single photo that would be shown in Loupe or in the Develop module. If you're synchronizing settings across multiple photos, Lightroom will take the settings from that active photo and apply it to the other selected photos.

The mid grey is also selected, but is not the active photo. In Grid view, any changes will apply to all of the selected photos. In other views, if you're synchronizing settings across multiple photos, Lightroom will apply the settings to those photos.

The darkest shade of grey isn't selected.

When applying settings, or especially when deleting photos, double check how many photos are selected, otherwise you could accidentally apply a command to all of them.

### VIEWING YOUR PHOTOS IN MORE DETAIL

The thumbnails give you a good overview, but they're a little too small to see the detail in your photos, so Lightroom offers 3 further view modes —Loupe, Compare and Survey—each with different strengths.

### ONE PHOTO OR ALL?

Lightroom's Grid view behaves differently to other views—anything you do in Grid view on the primary monitor applies to all selected photos, whereas most other views only apply to the active or most-selected photo (unless you have Auto Sync turned on—there's always an exception!)



▲ **Figure 37** Loupe view gives a detailed view on a single photo, allowing you to zoom in to check the detail. The zoom ratios are in the Navigator panel.



• **Figure 36** Enter Loupe mode by clicking this button or by pressing E.



 Figure 38 Enter Survey mode by clicking this button in the Toolbar or by pressing N.



• **Figure 39** Enter Compare mode by clicking this button in the Toolbar or by pressing C.

### VIEWING YOUR PHOTOS IN LOUPE VIEW

The Loupe view shows a larger view of one photo at a time. To access Loupe view, click the Loupe button on the Toolbar or press the E key.

You can move from one photo to the next, using the left and right arrows on the keyboard, the arrows on the Toolbar beneath the photo, or by selecting another photo from the Filmstrip.

To zoom in to check details, press the Z key or Spacebar. By default it zooms into 1:1 or 100% view, but there are additional zoom ratios at the top of the Navigator panel. If you want to view your photo as full screen, press the F key to toggle in and out of Full Screen Preview view.

### VIEWING YOUR PHOTOS IN SURVEY VIEW

Survey mode allows you to view multiple photos at the same time, so it's particularly useful when you have a series of similar photos to narrow down.

Select the photos in Grid or Filmstrip. If they're consecutive photos, click on the first photo, then hold down Shift key and click on the last one. If the photos are scattered, hold down Ctrl (Windows) / Cmd (Mac) while clicking on their thumbnails. Once the photos are selected, press the Survey button on the Toolbar or press N.

To remove a photo from the Survey view, click the X in corner of the photo. When you go back to Grid view, only the leftover photos will still be selected, so you can mark them using the ranking system of your choice.



- Figure 41 Loupe view gives a detailed view on a single photo, allowing you to zoom in to check the detail.



• Figure 42 Survey mode allows you to view multiple photos at the same time



▲ **Figure 43** Compare mode compares 2 photos in great detail, choosing your favorite before moving onto the next pair.

### PHOTOS ARE NOT IN LIGHTROOM

Remember, photos are never IN Lightroom. Don't move, rename or delete files or folders using Explorer/Finder or other software after import as Lightroom will no longer be able to find them.

Figure 44 The initial view of the Folders panel may not be easy to relate to the folders on the hard drive

▼ Fold	ers –	- +,
Macin	tosh HD 225 / 465 G8	W.
	2010-01-01 Sunset	
No.	2010-01-06 Snow	
>	2010-03-30 Moon	
	2010-06-27 William	
× 🛅	2010-12-02 William S	
V 🛅	2012	36
$\mathbf{\nabla}$	10	26
	is 🔚 12	
	IS 📷 🖬	12
	ie 📷 24	10
	» 🚞 30	
W	E 11	10
	▶ interpretation in the second se	
	» 💼 11	
V 🗎	2013	12
	01	12

### VIEWING FOLDERS IN LIGHTROOM AND ON THE HARD DRIVE

Using a database to catalog photos is a new concept to many Lightroom users, so it's important to understand how the photos in Lightroom relate to the files on your hard drive.

Look at the Folders panel on the left hand side of the Library module. You may have one or more folders listed, but the folder structure probably won't match your hierarchical folder structure in Explorer (Windows) or Finder (Mac). Only folders that hold imported photos will show in the Folders panel.

To make it easier to visualize where the photos are stored on your hard drive, we can set up the same hierarchy.

- 1. Find a top level folder. In Figure 44, all of the folder names starting with 2010 are top level folders, as are the 2012 and 2013 folders.
- 2. Right-click on that top level folder and choose Show Parent Folder, from the menu. If that option doesn't appear in the menu, you've selected a folder that already has a parent folder.
- 3. In most cases, you'll only need to add a single parent folder, but if you have a deep nested hierarchy, you may want to repeat on the new top level folders until you can visualize the whole tree.

▶ Figure 45 Using Show Parent Folder to add additional parent folders into the Folder panel view makes it easier to visualize how Lightroom relates to the hard drive.


#### ADOBE PHOTOSHOP LIGHTROOM 5 - QUICK START GUIDE



🕪 🚞 01

Figure 49		
The same folder		
nierarchy shown	in	

Mac Finder.

AVORITES Dropbox Desktop O Downloads @AutoFile @FileMe Filing Applications YIC	Creative Cloud Files Desktop Documents Downloads Downloads Mail Movies Music Pictures pslog.txt Public		Book Screenshot Catalog Photo Library Lightroom Lightroom Skitch	2010 2012 2013	<b>4</b> 4 4	2010-01-01-Sunset     2010-01-06 Snow     2010-03-30 Moon     2010-06-27 William     2010-12Illiam Snow	<ul> <li>20100101-151637.dng</li> <li>20100101-152748.dng</li> <li>20100101-152748.dng</li> <li>20100101-154145.dng</li> <li>20100101-154145.dng</li> <li>20100101-154157.dng</li> <li>20100101-15457.dng</li> <li>20100101-155003.dng</li> </ul>
--	--	--	--	----------------------	--------------------	---	---

7 items

## SELECTING THE BEST PHOTOS



P = Pick flag
U = Unflag
X = Reject flag
0-5 = 0-5 stars
6-9 = Red, yellow, green & blue label
Caps Lock = auto-advance

aving explored the view modes, you'll be ready to start sorting through the photos. Select the Previous Import collection or another folder and we'll explore the options..

#### **RATING YOUR PHOTOS**

Lightroom offers 3 different ways of ranking your photos.

Flags have 3 different states—flagged (picked), unflagged and rejected. They're a popular ranking system among Lightroom users, but flags are not shared with other software.

Star ratings are used by photographers worldwide, with 5 stars being the best photos. Stars are standardized metadata so they can be understood by other software. Many photographers limit themselves to using 1-3 stars when initially ranking their photos, and leave 4 and 5 star for the best photos they've ever taken.

If you haven't decided which system to use yet, consider using the Reject flag to mark photos to be deleted, and star ratings to grade the quality of the photos."

www.lightroomgueen.com/lr5guickstart

#### 

Color labels have no specific meaning, so you can decide how to use them. Many use them to mark photos that will need further work in other editors, for example, photos that need retouching in Photoshop, sets of photos for merging into HDR, photos to be built into a panorama, etc.

If you haven't decided which system to use yet, consider using the Reject flag to mark photos to be deleted, and star ratings to grade the quality of the photos.

Let's start ranking the photos you've just imported.

- Turn on the Caps Lock key on the keyboard to automatically advance to the next photo. If you prefer not to automatically move on, you can use the left/right arrows on the keyboard to move between photos.
- 2. Select the first photo and switch to the Loupe mode.
- 3. Decide how much you like the photo on screen. Press they X key to mark it for deletion, or the 1, 2 or 3 keys to give it a star rating. If you prefer to use the mouse, click the buttons on the Toolbar instead.
- 4. Repeat the process until you get to the end of photos. Remember, you can change your mind later!
- 5. If you find a group of similar photos, you can switch to Compare mode or Survey mode to view them together and then mark the best ones from the group.
- 6. Don't forget to turn off the Caps Lock key when you've finished!

• **Figure 50** Buttons for flags and star ratings are on the Toolbar by default, but if you click the arrow at the right-hand end, you can choose additional options to show on the Toolbar.

#### MULTIPASS EDIT

Some people prefer to take multiple passes through the photos when ranking—perhaps mark as reject or 1 star the first time and then go through the 1 star photos again, marking the best ones as 2 stars. You may need to experiment before deciding which workflow



▲ **Figure 51** In the Delete dialog, note the difference between Remove and Delete, and don't forget to check the number of photos that will be deleted.

#### **DELETING FUZZY PHOTOS**

Even the best photographers sometimes end up with photos that aren't worth keeping.

It's possible to delete photos while you're sorting through them, simply by pressing the Delete key on your keyboard, but it's quicker to mark them with a Reject flag and then delete them in one go. Photos marked as rejects show in the Grid view as dimmed photos, so it's easy to check that you've marked the right ones. When you're ready to delete all of the rejected photos, go to Photo menu > Delete Rejected Photos.

Before Lightroom deletes the photos, it will ask whether to Remove or Delete them. Note the difference. Remove just removes the reference to the photo from Lightroom's catalog, but the photo remains on the hard drive. Delete deletes the photo from your hard drive too.

Before you select either option, double check the number of photos that it says will be deleted, just in case you've accidentally selected photos you want to keep.

### *i* DELETE IN COLLECTIONS

If you press the Delete key while viewing a collection, it will only remove the photo from that collection, instead of removing it from Lightroom's catalog and the hard drive. Before Lightroom deletes the photos, it will ask whether to Remove or Delete them. Remove just removes the reference to the photo from Lightroom's catalog, but the photo remains on the hard drive. Delete deletes the photo from your hard drive too."

#### GROUPING SIMILAR PHOTOS USING STACKS

While you're sorting through your photos, you may come across groups of photos that don't mean a lot on their own. For example, groups of photos taken for a panorama or HDR often look really bad as individual photos!

Lightroom offers stacking as a way to group those photos and show them as a single photo while you're browsing.

Select the photos and go to Photo menu > Stacking > Group into Stack, or press Ctrl-G (Windows) / Cmd-G (Mac).

The photos will then be collapsed into a stack, marked with double lines at the beginning and end. To open the stack, click on the white number in the corner. The photo on the left is the photo that shows when you view a collapsed stack.

If the photo that best represents the stack perhaps the finished panorama or the finished HDR photo—isn't currently at the top of the stack, click on its number and it will move to the top and will show in the Grid when the stack is collapsed.

**Figure 53** When you click on the white rectangle, the stack opens to show the group of photos.





**Figure 52** Collapsed stacks show as a single photo.

#### ADOBE PHOTOSHOP LIGHTROOM 5 - QUICK START GUIDE



▲ **Figure 54** Groups of photos are called Collections, and they're stored in the Collections panel. Special types of collection can also contain settings for output modules, such as books and slideshows.

Name: My Collection	
Location	
☑ Inside a Collection Set	
Collection Set	•
Options	
Set as target collection	

▲ **Figure 55** To create a Collection, click the + button on the Collections panel and enter the name in the Create Collection dialog.

#### COLLECTIONS

Collections are a way of grouping photos without moving them on the hard drive. That means the same photo can be in multiple different collections, and the photos in the collections can be stored in various different folders.

To create a collection, scroll down to the Collections panel, which you'll find in the left panel group in all modules, and click the + button at the top. Name the collection, and you'll see it added to the Collections panel.

From the Grid view, select photos and drag them from the thumbnail preview area onto the collection. Don't forget to grab the photos by the thumbnail itself, not the border surrounding it.

If you create a Collection Set using the same + button on the Collections panel, you can drag existing collections inside the set to group similar collections.

Collections are a way of grouping photos without moving them on the hard drive. That means the same photo can be in multiple different collections, and the photos in the collections can be stored in various different folders."

## ADDING METADATA TO YOUR BEST PHOTOS

nce you've finished selecting your favorite photos, it's time to add metadata to help you find them again later. Sorting through your photos first means you can focus your efforts on the best ones, which are the ones you're likely to want to find again.

#### **TITLE & CAPTION**

Some photographers like to add descriptive text to the photos, perhaps for use as captions when posting to Flickr or Facebook. Go to the Metadata panel to type directly into the metadata fields. The Title and Caption fields do have official IPTC definitions, but many photographers simply use Title for a short image title (i.e. Dogs in Snow) and Caption for a more descriptive paragraph (i.e. William and Charlie are playing in the snow in the back garden).

#### **KEYWORDS**

Keyword Tags are text metadata used to describe the photo. For example, they can include:

- who is in the photo (people)
- what is in the photo (other subjects or objects)
- where was the photo taken (location)
- why was the photo taken (what's happening)
- when was the photo taken (time of day, season, event)
- how was the photo taken (perhaps HDR, tilt-shift, panoramic)



#### • Figure 56 Enter your Title

and Caption in the Metadata panel.

### *i* types of metadata

EXIF data is technical information added by the camera at the time of capture. It includes camera and lens information such as the make and model, and image information such as the capture date/time, shutter speed, aperture, ISO, and pixel dimensions.

IPTC data is added by the photographer to describe the photo, for example, title, caption, keywords and the photographer's name and copyright. There are official definitions for the IPTC fields, and you can view the full IPTC specification at the IPTC website. They help you search for photos later, for example, searching for keywords 'Charlie' and 'snow' will show just the photos of Charlie playing in the snow, without having to search through your whole catalog.

The main aim is to be able to find the photos again later, so don't go overboard, especially to start with. If you try to add 30 keywords to every photo you've ever taken, it can quickly become an overwhelming job, so just start with a few significant keywords on your best photos. There are multiple ways to add keywords, so we'll just cover 2 options in this Quick Start section.

#### Type in the Keywording panel

Select the first photo, perhaps in Loupe view, and go to the Keywording panel in the right panel group in Library. Click in the keywords field that says 'Click here to add keywords' and type your keywords, separating them with a comma (,). As you start to reuse keywords, they'll be suggested as you start typing, which helps avoid differences in spelling.

When you've finished, press the Enter key. Your keywords will then appear in the Keyword List panel.

#### Create and apply keywords using the Keyword List panel

At the top of the Keyword List panel is a + button, which is used for creating new keywords. Click the + button and enter your keyword in the Create Keyword Tag dialog.

To assign your new keyword to the selected photo, click the square to the left of the keyword in the Keyword List panel, which adds a checkmark.

If you want to add the same keyword to a lot of photos, for example, you have a series of photos of snow, select them all in Grid view before typing the keyword in the Keywording panel or checking the checkbox in the Keyword List panel.

Simply adding keywords will create a flat list of keywords, but what if you want to group them to make them easy to find? You may want to group all of your family members names into a 'People' parent keyword, and different animals under a 'Animals' parent keyword. To do so, create the People and Animals keywords and then drag and drop the other keywords onto them, just as you would drag folders onto other folders to make them into subfolders.

Keywording 🔻								
Keyword Tags Enter Keywords 🗧 🔻								
Charlie, snow, William, winter, garden								
Click here to add keywords								
Keyword Suggestions								
garden	woodland	mud						
tigers	meercats	125 Firgrove						
dogs								
Keyword Set 🛛 Recent Keywords 🌼 🔻								
woodland	mud	tigers						
meercats	garden	snow						
winter	125 Firgrove	William						

	Create Keyword Tag
Keyword Name:	dogs
Synonyms:	puppy, puppies, canine
	Keyword Tag Options
	☑ Include on Export
	<ul> <li>Export Containing Keywords</li> <li>Export Synonyms</li> </ul>
	Creation Options
	Add to selected photos
	Cancel
	Cancel

**Figure 58** Alternatively, you can click the + button on the Keyword List panel to view the Create Keyword Tag dialog.

+	Keyword List	V
Q		5
Þ	\$_WORKFLOW	
	%_OUTPUT	
115	ACTIVITY	
175	ANIMALS	8
	▶ birds	E
	⊪ cats 0	
	► dogs	F
	a donkeys	
	⊯ horses 0	
	i≫ lions 0	
	⊫ meercats 0	
	⊫ pigs 0	
	► rabbits	
	⊯ squirrels 0	
	i⊪ tigers 0	
	» whales 0	
►	PEOPLE	
⊳	PLACES	
►	SUBJECT - MANMADE	
►	SUBJECT - NATURE	
►	TECHNIQUES	
$\nabla$	TIME	
	► AGE	
	► EVENTS	
	▼ SEASON	
	l≫ autumn 0	
	spring 0	

► **Figure 57** You can add keyword tags to your photos by typing them directly into the Keywording panel.

**Figure 59** A subset of my personal keyword list.



▲ **Figure 60** When you open the Map module, the Map Key overlay will be showing. Close it by clicking the X in the top right corner.

#### MAP LOCATIONS

Lightroom's Map module allows you to sort and manage your photos by location. Some photos, for example, those shot on mobile phones, will automatically appear on the map as they include GPS data. Lightroom also allows you to add that information manually by dragging and dropping the photo onto the map. It's also possible to match the photo with a separate GPS Track Log.

Switch to the Map module by selecting Map in the Module Picker at the top of the screen, and make sure the Filmstrip is showing at the bottom of the screen.

On the Toolbar below the map is the Zoom slider, which allows you to zoom in and out of the map. Once you've zoomed in, click and drag the map to move it around.

If you want to go straight to a specific location on the map, type the name in the Search Box at the top of the map.

Finally, you can add your photos to the map, simply by dragging the photos from the Filmstrip onto your chosen location. If you make a mistake, drag them from the Filmstrip again, to the correct location. When you drop the photos on the map, a yellow or orange marker will appear, and clicking on that marker will show the photos at that location.



**Figure 61** Search for a specific location using the Search Box at the top of the map.

#### ADOBE PHOTOSHOP LIGHTROOM 5 - QUICK START GUIDE



**Figure 62** Drag photos from the Filmstrip onto the map.

**Figure 63** Click on a pin to view all of the photos taken at that location.





### Add your photos to the map by dragging them from the Filmstrip onto your chosen location."

# FINDING AND FILTERING YOUR PHOTOS

#### ( A) Sort: Capture Time

▲ **Figure 64** The Sort Order controls are in the Toolbar below the Grid.

▼ Catalog	
All Photographs	18651
Quick Collection +	0
Previous Import	1
Previous Export as (	Catalog 560

▲ **Figure 65** To search the whole catalog, select All Photographs in the Catalog panel.

sing the metadata automatically embedded by the camera, as well as the metadata you've added, you can search the database to easily find specific photos.

#### CHANGING THE SORT ORDER

The simplest way of finding your photos is changing the sort order and then scrolling through the Grid view to find the photo you want. On the Toolbar in Grid view, you'll find the Sort Order popup, which includes Capture Time, Filename and other useful options. The A>Z button reverses the current sort order.

#### **USING FILTERS**

Scrolling through the photos works well if you only have a few photos, but it can take a long time if your photo library has grown. That's where Filtering comes in—it hides all of the photos that don't meet the criteria you choose. For example, you may only want to view the photos with 3 or more stars, or all of the photos taken with a specific camera, or the photos you've tagged with a specific keyword.

To search your whole catalog, first select All Photographs in the Catalog panel in the left panel group in Library module, and select the Grid view. Above the thumbnails is the Filter bar, which you can show and hide using the \ key. Click on the word Attribute and then click on the 3rd star. All of the 0, 1 and 2 star photos will disappear from view, leaving only the 3, 4 or 5 star photos showing.

Library Filte	r:	Text Attri	bute	Metadata None		Custom Fil	ter 🗧 🔒
Attribute F	lag 🔷 🗟 🕅	👌   Rating ≥ 📩	$\star\star$	★ 🛧 🕴 Color 📃		Kind	
Date	1,1	Camera	-	Keyword		Label	
▶ 2007	1444	All (6 Cameras)	1652	Charlie	14	All (2 Labels)	14
▶ 2008	1409	Canon EOS 600D	537	my cars	4	Red	3
▶ 2009	1296	Canon EOS 650D	10	sleeping	2	No Label	11
▶ 2010	734	DSC-RX100	800	Sports Centre			
▶ 2011	797	iPhone	10	toilet roll	2		
▶ 2012	2980	iPhone 4S	259	Victoria Bam	2		
▶ 2013	1652	Unknown Ca	36	William	3 -		

Figure 66 Lightroom's Filters can be combined to find a specific photo.

Click on the 3rd star again, and the other photos will reappear. Then click on the red rectangle, and only the red labeled photos will show. Finally, try clicking the 2nd star, while leaving the red rectangle highlighted. Now the photos with 2 stars or greater and a red label will be showing. Also on the Attribute Filter bar are the flags and virtual copy filters. You can combine various different attributes to find the photos you're looking for.

Click on the word Attribute again to hide the Attribute Filter bar, and then click on the Metadata label to show the Metadata Filter bar.

The Metadata Filter bar has 4 columns by default. Using the pop-up at the top of each column, you can control which criteria you want to search, for example, Date, File Type, Camera and Keyword are among the most popular options.

Filtering hides all of the photos that don't meet the criteria you choose."  Figure 67 Smart Collections are stored in the Collections panel.



• **Figure 68** Smart Collections are like Saved Searches, automatically updating as photos meet, or stop meeting, the criteria you choose.

		Conectory	Smart	Create S	0.0
					Name: Smart Collection
					Location
					Inside a Collection Set
				855	S_Vic's Work in Prog
				following rules:	Match all : of the
++		*** · ·		is less than or equal to	Rating :
- +	1	red	. e	( <b>h</b> )	Label Color 3
	to 2013-12-31	2013-01-01	1.0	is in the range	Capture Date +
		Phone	- (1)	contains	Camera #
- +		Charlie	Ð	contains	Keywords =
		2013-01-01 Phone	1	is in the range contains	Capture Date : Camera #

Let's search for all of the photos shot in 2013 using an iPhone containing the keyword Charlie. In the first column, which is set to Date, click on 2013 to highlight it. The photos from other years will disappear from the grid below. In the second column, which is set to Camera, click on the iPhone. At this point the grid only shows iPhone photos from 2013. Finally, select Keyword from the third column pop-up, and then select Charlie from the list below.

You could then click on the Attribute label to add a 3 star filter, which would then show only the 2013 iPhone photos of Charlie with 3 stars.

To cancel the filters and return to viewing all of the photos, press the word None.

#### USING SMART COLLECTIONS

We talked earlier about using Collections to manually group photos, but Smart Collections are more like Saved Searches or Smart Folders.

Photos automatically appear in the Smart Collection when they meet the criteria you choose, and they disappear again when they stop meeting that criteria. For example, you can create a Smart Collection of all the 3+ star photos, so you can quickly view your best work without having to go to All Photographs and set up a filter.

To create a Smart Collection, press the + button on the Collections panel and select Create Smart Collection. Give it a name and then enter your criteria. The + button at the end of the row creates an additional row. Our earlier example of 2013 iPhone photos of Charlie with 3 stars and a red label would be set to match 5 rows of criteria, shown in the screenshot.

When you press Create, your new Smart Collection will stay in the Collections panel and you can click to view it again at any time.

## EDITING THE BEST PHOTOS

ne of the first things photographers want to do is edit their photos. Lightroom excels at that, so let's explore the most frequent adjustments made using the Develop module.

#### **BASIC ADJUSTMENTS**

Most of your image adjustments will be performed using the Basic panel on the right hand side in the Develop module. Just because there are a lot of sliders doesn't mean you have to adjust every single one!

It's most efficient to work from the top down, and then go back and tweak earlier sliders again if needed. However many times you move a slider, it doesn't degrade the image quality because the adjustments are saved as text instructions and only applied to the on-screen preview.

Let's cover a quick summary of the sliders, then we'll work on some examples.

- It sounds obvious, but look at the photo carefully first, and decide what you want to change. Is
  it too dark? Too light? A bit cold? Has it lost detail in the highlights? Is it a bit flat and lacking
  contrast? Is there lens distortion? If you jump straight in without analyzing the photo, you can
  spend a lot of time making adjustments and going in circles.
- 2. If the photo's very under or over exposed, adjust the Exposure slider to get the overall exposure in the right ballpark, but don't worry about fine tuning yet.

	Basic 🔻
Treatment :	Color Black & White
15	WB: Custom ÷
Temp Tint	<b>4850</b>
	Tone Auto
Exposure	0.48
Contrast	
Highlights	<u> </u>
Shadows	<u> </u>
Whites	<u> </u>
Blacks	<u> </u>
	Presence
Clarity	<u> </u>
Vibrance	
Saturation	0

▲ **Figure 69** You'll make most of your image adjustments using the Basic panel in the Develop module.

#### ADOBE PHOTOSHOP LIGHTROOM 5 - QUICK START GUIDE



▲ **Figure 70** Select the White Balance Eyedropper from the Basic panel and click on something that should be neutral to correct a color cast..



If you need to check whether you're losing highlight or shadow detail, turn on the clipping warnings by clicking the triangles in the top left and right corners of the histogram or by pressing J. Clipped blacks show in blue and clipped whites shows in red.

- 3. The White Balance sliders (Temperature & Tint) compensate for the color of the light in which the photo was taken. For example, a photo taken indoors without flash may be too yellow. The quickest way to set the white balance is to select the White Balance Selector tool and click on something in the photo that should be almost white or light grey. You can then go back and fine tune the white balance by adjusting the sliders, which are colored to show their range. Move the Temperature slider left to make the photo cooler or to the right to make it warmer. If the photo is too pink or green, adjust the Tint slider too.
- 4. Adjust the Exposure slider to set the overall brightness of the photo, moving to the right to brighten the photo or to the left to darken it. The easiest way to decide the correct Exposure is to look at the little Navigator preview in the top left corner while you move the slider, so you're not distracted by the content of the photo.
- 5. The Contrast slider is next. Does the photo look a little flat and muddy? Try increasing the Contrast by moving the slider to the right.
- 6. The Highlights and Shadows sliders affect the light and dark areas of the photos. If the light areas are lacking detail, try moving the Highlights slider to the left to darken them slightly. If the dark areas and shadows are lacking detail, try moving the Shadows slider to the right to lighten them slightly.
- 7. In many cases you can skip the Whites and Blacks sliders, as they're primarily for fine-tuning settings.
- 8. Clarity adds 'punch' to the photos. On photos of people, only use very low values as you'll accentuate lines and wrinkles, but architecture and landscapes can benefit from slightly higher values.
- 9. If the colors in your photo are a little dull, try increasing the Vibrance slider. It adjusts how saturated or colorful your photos are. Vibrance is more intelligent than the Saturation slider.

Let's try some examples... you can download these 3 files to try yourself at <a href="http://www.lightroomqueen.com/lr5quickstart">http://www.lightroomqueen.com/lr5quickstart</a>

• **Figure 71** We have a photo of William playing in the snow, but the snow fooled the automatic metering so it's underexposed. Adjust the Exposure slider to get it in the right ballpark. We can then see it's quite warm, and snow should be cool, so we adjust the White Balance. That's better, but it's a bit flat and lacking contrast, so we increase the Contrast slider. Let's reduce the Highlights to bring back detail in the snow, and increase the Shadows to show more detail in the side of his face. Finally, we'll add a touch of Clarity to make it jump off the page.







#### WHY DO MY RAW FILES NOT LOOK LIKE THEY DID ON MY CAMERA?

Raw files are unprocessed sensor data, so the raw converter has to convert the raw data into an image.

The camera manufacturers, and different raw processors, have their own interpretation of that data. There is no right or wrong—it's just different.

If you prefer the camera manufacturer's rendering, Lightroom ships with emulation profiles for some cameras (mainly Canon and Nikon SLR's), which makes Lightroom's rendering look more like the camera manufacturer's rendering. If your camera has emulation profiles, you'll find them in the Profile pop-up in the Calibration panel in Develop. Select your chosen profile before making other Develop adjustments, as they will change the appearance. **Figure 72** Next, let's try a sleepy tiger. The White Balance and Exposure are about right, but it's very flat—so we'll adjust the Contrast and Clarity. It's still a little dull, so we'll make it more colorful using Vibrance.













• **Figure 73** Finally, let's improve a high contrast scene. The White Balance and Exposure are about right, but it's losing detail in the light areas on top of the umbrella and in the shadows on the left and right. If we reduce the Contrast, to bring back that detail, it makes it a bit flat, so instead, we'll reduce the Highlights slider and increase the Shadows slider. There are no people in the photo, so we can safely add some Clarity to add a little punch and a little Vibrance to bring out the colors.

These are, of course, only simple examples to get you started. Now you can experiment with your own photos.

V	History		×
	Vibrance	+20	20
	Clarity	+20	20
	Shadows	+20	20
	Highlights		-40
	Contrast		20
	Exposure		0.18
	Exposure		-0.15
	Update to Current	Process (2012)	
	Post-Crop Vignette	Style: Paint Ov	verlay
	Import (17/05/2013	11:37:34)	

▲ **Figure 74** The History panel records the changes you make in the Develop module, as well as exports.

	- <u></u>	Before & After :			£-€
--	-----------	------------------	--	--	-----

▲ Figure 75 Before/After view options appear in the Toolbar.



**Figure 76** Virtual Copies can be identified by the triangular page turn icon in the corner of the thumbnail.

### UNDOING EXPERIMENTS

Because Lightroom's non-destructive, you can easily undo any of the adjustments.

As in most programs, Ctrl-Z (Windows) / Cmd-Z (Mac) is the Undo command. That will undo your last action, whether that's a slider movement, a star rating, or simply switching between modules. Lightroom also keeps a record of all the changes made to each photo. You can see that list in the History panel, on the left in Develop module. To go back to an earlier version, click on an earlier history state in the History panel. If you make further changes, Lightroom will continue recording from that point.

Finally, if you really don't like the results of your experiment, you can press the Reset button at the bottom of the right hand panels, to reset the photo's settings back to their default.

#### **BEFORE/AFTER PREVIEW**

Once you've done your initial edits, you'll want to see the results of your hard work. The Before/ After Preview allows you to compare your current settings with an earlier version, using your current crop settings.

Press the  $\$  key to toggle back and forth between before/after, or the Y key to see them side-byside. The Y button on the Toolbar offers further options.

#### **VIRTUAL COPIES**

If you want to experiment with different settings, without overwriting your current version, you can create a Virtual Copy. Virtual Copies show up in Lightroom as duplicate photos, and they have their own metadata and settings. Because they're virtual, they don't take up much more space on your hard drive as Lightroom doesn't need to duplicate the original image file.

To create a virtual copy, right-click and choose Create Virtual Copy or use the shortcut Ctrl-' (Windows) / Cmd-' (Mac).

You'll see an additional copy appear next to the Master, and it'll have a small triangle in the corner of the thumbnail, indicating that it's a VC.

If you no longer want a Virtual Copy, you can delete it like any other photo. Deleting a Virtual Copy won't remove the original photo from the hard drive—only a Master can do that. It will only remove that version of the metadata.

#### **CROPPING & STRAIGHTENING**

Most photos benefit from cropping, whether to remove distracting objects, straighten horizons, for artistic effect, or simply to fit your chosen ratio.

To open the Crop tool, select the Crop icon in the Develop Tool Strip below the Histogram or press the R key.

First, straighten your horizon. Select the Straighten tool in the Crop Options panel, and then click and drag a line along the horizon. Lightroom will automatically rotate the photo to make that line straight.

If you're planning on printing the photo, you may want to restrict your crop to a standard ratio. As Lightroom never throws away pixels, it doesn't crop to a specific size—just a ratio. This enables you to reuse the same crop for multiple different sizes, for example, a 4x5 crop can be output as 800x1000 pixels, 4"x5", 8"x10". You can select the ratio in the Crop Options panel, and choose the size when you export the photo. For a free form or non-standard crop ratio, leave the Lock icon unlocked.



▲ **Figure 77** To open the Crop tool, select the first icon in the Tool Strip, and the options will appear below.



▲ **Figure 78** Straighten the photo by selecting the Straighten Tool and dragging a line along the horizon.



▲ **Figure 79** Sharpening and Noise Reduction are applied using the Detail panel.

To switch the orientation, for example, to make a vertical crop from a horizontal photo, press the X key. Adjust the crop by dragging the corners or the edges of the Crop Border. You can move the photo around under the Crop Overlay by clicking and dragging the photo, and rotate by clicking and dragging around the outside of the Crop Border.

Once you've finished cropping, press the Enter key or the Done button on the Toolbar.

#### SHARPENING

Your photos may need a little sharpening, so zoom into 1:1 view by clicking the 1:1 icon on the top of the Navigator panel. Other zoom ratio's won't be as accurate.

Lightroom's Sharpening controls are in the Detail panel in the Develop module.

The Amount slider controls the amount of sharpening applied. By default, that will be set to 0 for JPEGs as they may have been sharpened by the camera. Raw files are set to 25 by default. The default settings are an excellent starting point and you may be satisfied with those settings. If you want to experiment further, try lower radius/higher detail for detailed shots such as landscapes and higher radius/lower detail settings for close-up portraits.

In the Presets panel, there are a couple of sharpening presets for faces and landscapes.

Be careful not to oversharpen, as you can also apply Output Sharpening when you come to export the photos later.

#### **FIXING NOISY PHOTOS**

Noise in your photos can be very distracting. You'll particularly notice it in photos shot at high ISO, for example, shot without flash in a darkened room. If you've increased the exposure considerably within Lightroom, that can also increase the appearance of noise. Fortunately, Lightroom's Noise Reduction tools are excellent.

As with sharpening, zoom into 1:1 view as other zoom's aren't as accurate.

In the Detail panel there are a range of noise reduction sliders for extreme cases, but you'll usually only need to adjust Luminance and perhaps Color.

If you're working on raw files, try a setting of around 20-25 as a starting point. That will reduce the noise in most cases, without losing too much image detail. The aim is to reduce the noise, rather than making the subject look like plastic, so don't push it too far. JPEGs may have already had some noise reduction applied by the camera, so you'll need a lower value for those.

The Color slider is set to 25 by default for raw files, which is usually plenty. It's set to 0 by default for JPEGs, but if there is still colored noise in your photo, particularly in the dark shadows, try increasing it slightly.

#### **FIXING DISTORTION**

Your photos may be distorted, either because of defects in the lens itself or because of the shooting angle. Applying lens and perspective corrections in Lightroom is as simple as checking the checkboxes in the Basic tab of the Lens Corrections panel.

The Enable Profile Corrections checkbox applies the lens profile. If the photo doesn't change, switch to the Profile tab to select the correct lens profile from the pop-ups. Many lenses have already been



 Figure 80 Lens and perspective corrections are found in the Lens Corrections panel.



• Figure 81 Check the right profile is selected in the Profile tab.

		Basic 🔻
Treatment :	Color	Black & White

▲ **Figure 82** Convert to B&W using the button at the top of the Basic panel.

	HSL / Color / B&W 🔻
O Red Orange Yellow Green Aqua Blue	Black & White Mix 
Purple Magenta	+ 17 + 17 + 4 Auto

• **Figure 83** Fine tune the B&W mix using the B&W panel.

profiled, but if your lens isn't available, it may be possible to download a user-created profile using the Lens Profile Downloader. <u>http://www.lrq.me/lensprofilecreator</u>

The Remove Chromatic Aberration checkbox removes any fringing in the photo, particularly around high-contrast edges or in the corners of the photo. It's not enabled by default as it can have a slight performance hit and soften the photo very slightly, but it's an easy fix if there is fringing in your photo.

Constrain Crop makes sure that your photo is cropped to remove any gaps around the edge of the photo, which can occur when applying any lens or perspective corrections.

Finally, you can press the Upright Auto button to apply automatic perspective adjustments. Most of the time, Auto will be the best choice, but you can try the other Upright buttons to see if you prefer the result.

#### **CONVERTING PHOTOS TO BLACK & WHITE**

Converting your photo to black and white is very simple—just press the V key or select B&W at the top of the Basic panel. Lightroom will create a basic black & white photo, which you can then fine tune.

Go to the B&W panel and click on the Targeted Adjustment Tool in the top left corner to select it. The Targeted Adjustment Tool—or TAT Tool, for short—allows you to adjust the B&W mix by dragging directly on the photo. It moves the sliders for you. Find an area of the photo that you'd like to be darker—perhaps the blue sky—and click and drag down on that area. As you drag, the blue tones will get darker and you'll see sliders in the B&W panel moving. Find another color in the photo that you'd like to be lighter—perhaps something red—and as you click and drag up the red tones will lighten.

You may also want to adjust the contrast of the photo, to better suit the B&W version. You can go back to the Basic panel and adjust sliders there, or you can select the TAT Tool in the Tone Curve panel. It works just like the TAT Tool in the B&W panel, except it adjusts the Tone Curve.

#### **COPYING SETTINGS TO SIMILAR PHOTOS**

Lightroom is a workflow tool, so it's designed to work with multiple photos. If you shoot a series of photos in very similar light, you may want to copy settings from one photo to the other similar photos. There are multiple ways to do that, but here are two...

#### Sync

Sync uses the data from the active (lightest grey) photo, and pastes it onto all of the other selected (mid-grey) photos. That's why there are 3 different levels of selection.

- 1. Adjust the first photo, which will be the source of the settings.
- Keeping that photo active, also select the other photos by holding down Ctrl (Windows) / Cmd (Mac) or Shift key while clicking directly on their thumbnails, rather than the cell borders.
- 3. Click the Sync button in the Develop module, or Sync Settings in the Library module, to show the Sync Develop Settings dialog.
- 4. Select the checkboxes for the slider settings that you want to copy to the other selected photos, and then press Synchronize to transfer the settings.

If you shoot a series of photos in very similar light, you may want to copy settings from one photo to the other similar photos."



**Figure 84** Sync is at the bottom of the right panel group.



▲ **Figure 85** Copy and Paste are at the bottom of the left panel group.



#### Copy and Paste

Copy and Paste allows you to copy settings into memory, and then paste them onto individual photos.

- 1. Adjust the first photo, which will be the source of your settings.
- 2. Click the Copy button in the Develop module.
- 3. Select the checkboxes for the slider settings that you want to copy.
- 4. Press the arrow key on your keyboard to move to the next photo, or select a different photo in the Filmstrip.
- 5. Click the Paste button to paste those settings onto the selected photo.

You don't have to copy all of the settings. Sync and Copy/Paste both have dialogs allowing you to choose specific settings to transfer, so you may just sync Noise Reduction or White Balance, for example, without copying the Exposure settings.

#### SAVING SETTINGS TO APPLY TO OTHER PHOTOS

Presets save sets of settings to apply to other photos over and over again. They simply move sliders to preset positions.

Some presets ship with Lightroom, so you can experiment with them before creating your own presets.

Go to Presets panel on the left in Develop. As you float over the preset names, it shows a preview in Navigator panel above.

**Figure 86** When you float the mouse over a preset name, it's previewed in the Navigator panel above.

To apply a preset to your photo, simply click on the preset name.

To create your own preset, adjust a photo to the settings that you want to save as your preset. Press the + button on the Presets panel to show the New Develop Preset dialog. Check or uncheck the sliders you want to save in your preset. If a checkbox is unchecked, that slider won't be adjusted when you apply your preset to another photo. For example, if your preset is just for Sharpening settings, uncheck the other checkboxes and only leave the Sharpening checkbox checked.

Give your new preset a name, and you can also create folders to group similar presets together. Then press the Create button. Your preset will now appear in the Presets panel for use on any photos.

**Figure 87** Create a new preset by pressing the + button on the Presets panel and checking the sliders you want to include in the preset.

	New Develop Preset	
Preset Name: Untitled	Preset	
Folder: User Pre	sets	
Auto Settings		
🗌 Auto Tone		
Settings		
<ul> <li>White Balance</li> <li>Basic Tone</li> <li>Exposure</li> <li>Contrast</li> <li>Highlights</li> <li>Shadows</li> <li>White Clipping</li> <li>Black Clipping</li> <li>Tone Curve</li> <li>Clarity</li> <li>Sharpening</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Treatment (Color)</li> <li>Color</li> <li>Saturation</li> <li>Vibrance</li> <li>Color Adjustments</li> <li>Split Toning</li> <li>Graduated Filters</li> <li>Radial Filters</li> <li>Noise Reduction</li> <li>Luminance</li> <li>Color</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Lens Corrections</li> <li>Lens Profile Corrections</li> <li>Chromatic Aberration</li> <li>Upright Mode</li> <li>Upright Transforms</li> <li>Transform</li> <li>Lens Vignetting</li> <li>Effects</li> <li>Post-Crop Vignetting</li> <li>Grain</li> <li>Process Version</li> <li>Calibration</li> </ul>
Check All Check N		Cancel Create

#### ADOBE PHOTOSHOP LIGHTROOM 5 - QUICK START GUIDE



▲ **Figure 88** Select the Spot Removal tool from the Tool Strip under the histogram.

#### **REMOVING DUST SPOTS**

Lightroom's Spot Removal tool isn't intended to replace Photoshop or other pixel editors, but it allows you to quickly remove dust spots and other small distractions.

Select the second icon in the Tool Strip, beneath the Histogram, or press the Q key.

Adjust the brush size using the slider in the Options panel and then click on the spot in the photo, or click and drag to remove a line or non-circular shape. Lightroom will automatically try to find a good source, but you can then click and drag the circles to fine tune the correction.

If you want to delete a spot correction, hold down the Alt key (Windows) / Opt key (Mac) to change the cursor into a pair of scissors, and then click on the spot again.



▲ **Figure 89** Find a spot or distraction in the photo, such as this piece of seaweed on the sand.



**Figure 90** Click and drag to paint over the distraction.



▲ **Figure 91** Lightroom will find some new pixels to cover the distraction, but you can click and drag that overlay to choose a different source.

#### MAKING LOCAL ADJUSTMENTS

Most of Lightroom's controls apply to the whole photo, but the Local Adjustments allow you to apply settings to specific areas, either using a gradient or a brush.

The Linear Graduated Filter is useful for things like darkening the sky in a sunset photo. Select the Linear Graduated Filter in the Tool Strip, just below the Histogram. In the Options section below, you select the settings that you want to apply selectively. It can help to select settings that will be obvious, for example, Exposure -1, as you can go back and change them later. Click on the photo and drag to create your gradient, for example, drag from the top down to darken the sky. Lines will appear on screen, showing the limits of the gradient. The outer lines show where the gradient starts and stops, and you can drag those lines to increase or decrease the range. The center line allows you to rotate the gradient. Once you're happy with the gradient, you can adjust the local Develop settings in the Options panel.

The same principle applies for the Radial Graduated Filter, except that creates a circular or oval gradient.

The Adjustment Brush allows you to paint on the photo, perhaps to lighten dark shadows or apply a different white balance to a specific area of the photo. Select the Adjustment Brush in the Tool Strip and select your chosen settings in the Options section below. As with the Graduated and Radial Filters, you can go back and fine tune those settings later. Click and drag on the photo to paint your brush strokes. If you make a mistake, hold down the Alt key (Windows) / Opt key (Mac) to turn the brush into an eraser, and click and drag over the mistake to remove the brush stroke.

The local adjustments will be marked with pins, which are small white circles. When a pin is selected, it will have a black center, showing that you can edit the settings or delete the whole adjustment.

		0-
Mask :	New	Edit
Effect :	Exposure ÷	X
Temp	C	0
Tint		
Exposure	<u></u>	1.00
Contrast	<u></u>	0
Highlights	<u> </u>	0
Shadows	والمتحدث والمتحدث والمتحدث	
Clarity	والمتعدية ومحمد الملك	0
Saturation	·····	0
Sharpness		0
Noise	<u> </u>	0
Moirė	<u> </u>	0
Defringe	<u> </u>	
Color	×	1
Brush :	A B Erase	
Size	واستنبا الماسي الم	15.0
Feather	<b>&gt;</b>	100
Flow	<u></u>	100
	Auto Mask	
Density	<u> </u>	100
	Reset	Close

▲ **Figure 92** The Graduated Filter, Radial Filter and Adjustment Brush are the 4th, 5th and 6th tools in the Tool Strip under the histogram.

cal

i short	CUTS
Q = M =	Spot Removal Graduated Filter
Shift-M =	Radial Filter
K =	Adjustment Brus
Delete =	Delete selected lo adjustment or spo

The Adjustment Brush allows you to paint on the photo, perhaps to lighten dark shadows or apply a different white balance to a specific area of the photo. Select the Adjustment Brush in the Tool Strip and select your chosen settings in the Options section below. As with the Graduated and Radial Filters, you can go back and fine tune those settings later. Click and drag on the photo to paint your brush strokes. If you make a mistake, hold down the Alt key (Windows) / Opt key (Mac) to turn the brush into an eraser, and click and drag over the mistake to remove the brush stroke.

The local adjustments will be marked with pins, which are small white circles. When a pin is selected, it will have a black center, showing that you can edit the settings or delete the whole adjustment.



▲ **Figure 93** The Graduated Filter is ideal for darkening skies. The central line rotates and the outer lines show the limits of the gradient.



▲ **Figure 94** The side of the lion's face is in shadow, so we can use the Adjustment Brush to selectively lighten that area. The red Mask Overlay shows the brush strokes, and can be turned on and off using the O key or the checkbox in the Toolbar.

## FURTHER EDITING IN OTHER PROGRAMS

ightroom is a brilliant workflow tool, but there are still some tasks, such as detailed retouching or merging panoramas, that require a pixel editor such as Photoshop. Lightroom can pass your edited photo over to your pixel editor and add the result back into the catalog.

#### INTEGRATION WITH PHOTOSHOP

If a full version of Photoshop is installed on your computer, it should appear in Photo menu > Edit In or the right-click menu. You can also press Ctrl-E (Windows) / Cmd-E (Mac) to open the photo into Photoshop.

If the photo is a raw file and you're using ACR 8 in CS6 or CC, Lightroom should open the photo directly into Photoshop. Older versions will ask how to handle an ACR mismatch, so press Render Using Lightroom in order to ensure the file renders correctly.

If you're working with a JPEG, TIFF, PSD or PNG file, a dialog will appear asking how to handle the file. Select Edit a Copy with Lightroom Adjustments to open your photo with your Develop adjustments applied.

Once you've finished editing the photo in Photoshop, press Save and then close the photo and switch back to Lightroom. Your edited photo will be updated in your catalog.

Edit In		Edit in Adobe Photoshop CC		
Set Flag		Edit in Adobe Photoshop Elements Editor		
Set Rating		Color Efex Pro 4		
Set Color Label	•	Dfine 2.0		
Add Keyword "William"	1000	Photoshop CS6		
Add to Quick Collection and Next	ŵВ	Photoshop Elements 11 Pixelmator		
Stacking		Sharpener Pro 3.0: (1) RAW Presharpener		
Create Virtual Copies		Sharpener Pro 3.0: (2) Output Sharpener Silver Efex Pro 2		
Develop Settings		Viveza 2		
Metadata Presets	•	Onen au Grant Oblast in Rhatashan		
Rotate Left (CCW)		Open as Smart Object in Photoshop Merge to Panorama in Photoshop		
Rotate Right (CW)		Merge to HDR Pro in Photoshop		
Metadata b		Open as Layers in Photoshop		

▲ **Figure 95** Lightroom can pass your photos to Photoshop and other external pixel editors.

#### ADOBE PHOTOSHOP LIGHTROOM 5 - QUICK START GUIDE

	General Presets	Extern	nal Editing	File Handling Interface			
dit in Adobe Photos	hop CC						
File Format:	TIFF	\$		to RGB is the recommended choice for best preserving rom Lightroom.			
Color Space:	ProPhoto RGB	\$					
Bit Depth:	16 bits/component	¢					
Resolution:	240						
Compression:	ZIP	\$					
Additional External E	ditor						
Preset:	Photoshop Elements 11	L.		\$			
Application:	Adobe Photoshop Elemen	nts Edito	r	Choose Clear			
File Format:	TIFF	\$	8-bit files are smaller and more compatible with various progra and plug-ins, but will not preserve fine tonal detail as well as 16				
Color Space:	AdobeRGB (1998)	\$	data. The AdobeRGB (1998) color space cannot encompass the full range of colors available within Lightroom. ZIP compressed TIFFs				
Bit Depth:	8 bits/component	\$	may be incon	patible with older applications.			
Resolution:	240						
Compression:	ZIP	\$					
Stack With Original							
stack With Original	Stack With Original						
	Stack With Original						
	aming: IMG_0002-Edit.psd			•			

▲ **Figure 96** You can set up multiple additional external editors using the External Editing tab in the Preferences dialog.

#### INTEGRATION WITH PHOTOSHOP ELEMENTS

Not everyone needs the power of full Photoshop. Elements can do many of the tasks photographers require. Like Photoshop, Lightroom recognizes when a recent version of Elements is installed, and Photo menu > Edit In > Edit in Photoshop Elements or CtrI-E (Windows) / Cmd-E (Mac) will open the photo into Photoshop Elements. Once you've finished editing the photo, save and close before returning to Lightroom.

Not everyone needs the power of full Photoshop. Elements can do many of the tasks photographers require."

#### **OPENING PHOTOS IN OTHER EDITORS**

Lightroom can also send files to other external editors, such as OnOne software, Nik software, Pixelmator or PaintShop Pro.

Some of those editors come with their own Lightroom plug-ins and presets which are installed automatically. If your editor doesn't install its own connection, you can set it up manually. Go to Lightroom's Preferences dialog, under the Edit menu (Windows) / Lightroom menu (Mac) and select the External Editors tab. In the bottom half of the dialog, press Choose and navigate to the program's exe file (Windows) / app (Mac). Select other preferences below—TIFF is a good choice for file format, and 8-bit vs. 16-bit will depend on your specific editor. If the software is color managed, such as the editors mentioned above, select ProPhoto RGB as the color space.

Finally, in the Preset pop-up, select Save Settings as New Preset and give your editor a name. It will then be accessible from the Photo menu > Edit In and right-click menus.





	Edit Photo with Pixelmator
Vhat to Edit	
• Edit a Copy	with Lightroom Adjustments
	room adjustments to a copy of the file and edit that one ot contain layers or alpha channels.
Edit a Copy	
Edit a copy of th Lightroom adju	ne original file. Istments will not be visible.
Edit Origina	d
Luit Origina	
Edit the origina	l file. istments will not be visible.
Edit the origina Lightroom adju	istments will not be visible.
Edit the origina	istments will not be visible.
Edit the origina Lightroom adju	ons
Edit the origina Lightroom adju Copy File Opti File Format:	ons
Edit the origina Lightroom adju Copy File Opti File Format: Color Space:	ons TIFF   SRCB

▲ **Figure 97** If you open a JPEG, TIFF, PSD or PNG file into Photoshop, or any file format into other non-Adobe editors, you'll see a dialog like this one, asking how you'd like to handle the file.

# YOUR FINISHED PHOTOS

### *i* IMAGE SIZE & RESOLUTION

When digital photographers speak of image size, they're usually referring to the pixel dimensions—the total number of pixels along a photo's width and height. For example, an uncropped file from an 18 megapixel camera may be 5184 x 3456 pixels.

Pixels don't have a fixed size. They expand or contract to fill the space. If you expand them too much, the photo appears blurry and pixelated (you can see the squares), so the aim is to keep the pixels smaller than or equal to the monitor pixels or printer dots.

Resolution—for example, 300 pixels per inch—only comes into effect when you combine it with a physical size such as 4" x 6". aving done all this work, you'll want people to see your photos, whether that's on your screen, on their own computers, or even as prints, so let's explore Lightroom's most frequently used output options.

Lightroom is non-destructive, which means that it doesn't save over your original image data. To apply your settings to the photo, you use Export, which is like a Save As in other programs.

When you export photos, it's usually for a specific purpose, such as posting on the web, giving them to someone else, or sending them away to be printed. Most exports can be deleted after use, as the photos can be exported again in future, using the settings saved in the catalog.

#### 'SAVE AS' A COPY ON THE HARD DRIVE

To export your photos, select them and then go to File menu > Export or press the Export button at the bottom of the left panel group in Library module. These are the main settings you'll need to check:

- 1. Destination—choose the Destination folder for the exported photos.
- File name—you can rename on export, for example, creating a template for Sequence #(001)-Filename will put a sequence number before your existing filename to ensure that they sort correctly in other software.
- 3. File Format-JPEG is an excellent choice for web, email, etc. You'll need to select a quality

setting. TIFF is best for pixel editors such as Photoshop. Original format is a duplicate of the original photo, with extra metadata, but without your Develop adjustments applied.

- 4. Color Space—select sRGB for screen/web use or ProPhoto RGB for color managed pixel editors such as Photoshop.
- 5. Size-refers to the pixel dimensions of the photo. There are some sample sizes in the sidebar.
- 6. Output Sharpening—select Screen for screen/web use, and the type of paper for prints.

	000	Export One File
	Export To:	Hard Drive 2 Export One Tile
	♥ Lightroom Presets	¥ Export Location
Destination (1)	Burn Full-Sized JPECs Export to DNG Enc Encol For Email (Hard Drive) V User Presets	Export To: [Specific folder 2) Folder: (Users/Vic/Desktop * Choose Intersection (Users/Vic/Desktop)
	Silver Efex	Add to This Catalog     Add to Stack     Below Original     F
		¥ File Naming
File Name (2)		Rename To: Sequence-Filename 1
		Custom Text. Start Number: 1 Example: 001-20130118-083538.jpg Extensions: Lowercase :
		► Video NoVideo
		V File Settings
File Format (3) — Color Space (4) —		Image Format:         [JPEG         2         Quality:         50           Color Space:         \$RGB         2         □         Limit File Size To:         100         K
		▼ Image Sizing
File Size (5)		Resize to Fit: Long Edge      Soo pixels = Resolution: 72 pixels per linch =
		V Output Sharpening
Sharpening (6)		Sharpen For: Screen 2 Amount: Standard 3
		₹ Metadata
		Include: Copyright Only
		▶ Watermarking No watermark
reate copies of your is applied.	Add Remove	b Post-Processine ShowinFinde



If you're just starting out, here are some sample export settings for different uses:

Email—Longest Edge 800px, and you can ignore the resolution as we're specifying the size in pixels. Format JPEG, quality 60-80.

4" x 6" digital print—Dimensions 4" x 6" at 300ppi. Format JPEG, quality 80-100. 8" x 10" digital print—Dimensions 8" x 10" at 300ppi. Format JPEG, quality 80-100.

Full resolution master—uncheck the Resize to Fit checkbox. Format TIFF/ PSD or JPEG quality 100.

**Figure 98** Use Export to create copies of your photos with your adjustments applied.



Lightroom offers a choice of different color spaces when you output photos. Large color spaces (ProPhoto RGB and Adobe RGB) retain the most data, so they're used when transferring photos to Photoshop, but they'll look odd in programs that aren't color managed, such as web browsers. Use sRGB for screen output, emailing or uploading to the web.

#### **EMAILING YOUR PHOTOS**

Lightroom makes it easy to email your photos. Select the photos and then go to File menu > Email Photos.

If your default email client is supported, such as Outlook or Apple Mail, it will show the Email dialog. Select the photo size using the preset in the bottom left corner. If you leave the address and the rest of the email blank and press Send, it'll open the email message into your email software so you can access your address book. Alternatively you can type your email into the Email dialog and send it directly.

If you use webmail or an unsupported email client, Lightroom will first ask you for your email account settings. Once your email account is set up, you can enter the recipient's email address and your message into the Email dialog before pressing Send.

Service Provider:	Gmail
Service Horiden.	
Account Name:	Gmail
Email Address:	victoria@lightroomqueen.com
Password:	[
rassiona.	

▲ **Figure 99** If your default email client isn't supported, Lightroom will ask for your server details.

**Figure 100** The Email dialog allows you to create an email with the photos automatically attached. Set the image size using the pop-up in the bottom left corner.

00	_	(	Gmail - 2 P	hotos	_	_	_	_
To:						Cc	Bcc	Address
members@lightr	oomq	ueen.com						
Subject:			Fro	m:				
William & Charlie			6	mail				
Myriad Web Pro	+	Regular	۵.	12 :	<	•		Show Rule
Attached Files:								
		a as a description	n fabel					
Include caption n		a as a descriptio x long edge, mer			•	Cancel		Send

#### **PRINTING YOUR PHOTOS**

If you're sending your photos to an online lab to be printed, turn back to the Export page and export JPEGs to send away, but if you're printing to a locally attached printer, such as an inkjet printer, you can use Lightroom's Print module to print your photos. Let's create a simple 4"x6" print.

First, select the photo or photos you want to print, and then switch to the Print module using the Module Picker at the top of the screen.

At the bottom of the left panel group, press the Page Setup button and select your paper size before returning to Lightroom. If you're using 4x6 borderless paper, you'll need to select that borderless paper size.

In the Layout Style panel at the top of the right panel group, select Single Image/Contact Sheet, and then in Image Settings, check Zoom to Fill and Rotate to Fit.



**Figure 101** Select your page layout settings in the right panel group in the Print module. These are settings for a 4"x6" borderless print.



If you don't have a profile, select Managed by Printer so that the printer cares for the color management."

In the Layout panel, set all the margins to 0 for borderless printing. If they won't go down to 0, either the Page Setup is not set to borderless or the printer doesn't support borderless, in which case you'll need a larger piece of paper.

Still in the Layout panel, set the Rows and Columns to 1 to put a single photo on the page, and set the Cell Size to 6x4 for a  $6'' \times 4''$  print. If you prefer to work in centimeters, you can change the units using the pop-up at the top of the panel.

Finally, scroll down to the Print Job panel. As a default, set the Print Resolution to 360ppi for Epson or 300ppi for Canon/HP and enable the Print Sharpening.

If you have a profile for your printer, select Other from the Color Management Profile pop-up and choose the profile. If you don't have a profile, select Managed by Printer so that the printer cares for the color management.

Finally, press the Printer button to view the Print dialog. Select your paper type, quality settings and any other settings specific to your printer driver, and then press Print.

▶ **Figure 102** After setting up the print layout in Lightroom, press the Printer button and select the correct paper and quality settings.

[	Print Settings 🗧 🗧	
Page Setup: 1	Standard	
Media Type:	DURABrite Photo Paper	\$
Color:	Color	\$

### CONGRATULATIONS, YOU'RE NOW A LIGHTROOM USER!



ightroom is a vast program, with lots to learn, so this is just the start of your journey. There's a friendly community surrounding Lightroom, who are ready to help you learn.

You can find more information in the official Help Files at <u>http://helpx.adobe.com/lightroom.html</u> Adobe's official beginners forums are at <u>http://forums.adobe.com/community/lightroom/</u> <u>lightroom\_for\_beginners</u> and then you can graduate to their main Lightroom forums at <u>http://forums.adobe.com/community/lightroom</u>

If you prefer a smaller, friendlier, independent forum, come and join us at <u>http://www.lightroomforums.net</u> where you'll be given a warm welcome.

Finally, books and videos are a great way to learn, without having to wait for people to answer your questions. There's an excellent range of Lightroom training materials available, suited to different learning styles.

My own book, *Adobe Photoshop Lightroom 5 - The Missing FAQ*, is primarily designed as a FAQstyle reference book, rather than step-by-step tutorials. It starts off with this Quick Start Guide as the first chapter, and then switches to a conversational question and answer format, so you can comfortably flip around the book, reading the sections that interest you most at the time. It doesn't tell you what you 'must' do, but helps you to understand the information you need to make good decisions about your own workflow, like the decisions you made in the Before You Start section of this guide. It's full of real-world answers to real questions asked by real Lightroom users.

It's available from <u>http://www.lightroomqueen.com</u> in PDF, ePub, Kindle and paperback, and the paperback is also available from bookstores such as Amazon. I hope you enjoy it!

It doesn't tell you what you 'must' do, but helps you to understand the information you need to make good decisions about your own workflow"



It's available from <u>http://www.lightroomqueen.com</u> in PDF, ePub, Kindle and paperback, and the paperback is also available from bookstores such as Amazon.

I'm sure you'll find it useful!